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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE MARRERQ
SOUTHERN DISTRICT NEW YORK e

Tracy Albert and Dimitrios Malaxianis, on behalf i
of themselves and all others similarly situated, %QTB 7
ASS ACTION C

Plaintiffs,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

VS.

BLUE DIAMOND GROWERS, and WWF
OPERATING COMPANY

Defendants.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs Tracy Albert and Dimitrios Malaxianis (“Plaintiffs”), by and through their
undersigned counsel, upon personal knowledge as to themselves and upon information and belief
as to all other matters, allege as follows:

SUMMARY

1. Plaintiffs bring this consumer class actiém against Blue Diamond Growers (“Blue
Diamond”), and WWF Operating Company (“WhiteWave™) (collectively “Defendants™) on
behalf of themselves and all other persons in the United States who, from May 27, 2009, up to
and including the present (the “Class Period”), purchased for consumption and not resale any of
Blue Diamond’s or WhiteWave’s almond milk labeled products.

2. During the Class Period, Defendants engaged in a uniform campaign through
which they purposefully misrépresented and continue to purposefully misrepresent to consumers
that their almond milk labeled products are primarily made from almonds, when in fact, said

products contain only 2% of almonds.
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3. Defendants’ actions constitute deceptive acts and practices in violation of § 349 of
New York General Business Law, as well as those similar deceptive and unfair practices and/or
consumer protection laws in other states. Defendants’ actions also constitute false advertising in
violation of § 350 of New York General Business Law, as well those similar false advertising
laws in other states, fraud, and unjust enrichment.

4, As a result of these unfair and deceptive practices, Defendants have collected
millions of dollars from the sale of their almond milk labeled products that they would not have
otherwise earned but for their deceptive acts and practices.

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE

5. Plaintiff Tracy Albert is a citizen of the State of California. During the Class
Period, Ms. Albert purchased WhiteWave Silk almond milk labeled products at various times
and at various grocery stores located within the State of California for personal consumption.

6. Plaintiff Dimitrios Malaxianis is a citizen of the State of New York. During the
Class Period, Mr. Malaxianis purchased Blue Diamond Almond Breeze almond milk labeled
products at various times and at various grocery stores located within the State of New York for
personal consumption.

7. Blue Diamond Growers is a California corporation with its principal place of
business located in Sacramento, California. Blue Diamond is an agricultural cooperative and
marketing organization that specializes in almonds. Founded in 1910 as the California Almond
Grower’s Exchange, Blue Diamond claims to be the world's largest tree nut processing and
marketing company. It serves 3,500 almond growers, and helps make the almond crop (valued at

over $1 billion) California’s largest food export.



Case 1:15-cv-04087-VM Document 1 Filed 05/28/15 Page 3 of 26

8. Blue Diamond sells roasted almonds under the Blue Diamond brand and almond
milk labeled products under the Almond Breeze brand.

9. Blue Diamond is privately held and does not disclose sales figures, although the
Sacramento Bee has estimated it to have annual sales of about $709 million in 2009.

10. Defendant Whitewave is a publicly traded Delaware corporation (NYSE:
WWAYV), with its principal place of business in Broomfield, Colorado. WhiteWave is a
consumer packaged food and beverage company that manufactures, markets, distributes, and
sells branded foods and beverages, coffee creamers, dairy products and organic produce
throughout North America and Europe. Whitewave was formerly a subsidiary of Dean Foods,
and was spun off in an IPO announced in August 2012.

11. Whatewave brands distributed in North America include Horizon Organic
premium dairy and pantry products, Silk and SO Delicious plant-based foods and beverages,
Earthbound Farm organic produce and International Delight and Land O’Lakes coffee creamers
and beverages. WhiteWave’s European brands of foods and beverages include Alpro and
Provamel.

12. Defendants are the two largest manufacturers of almond milk labeled products in
the United States. Defendants sell their almond milk labeled products to consumers through
grocery and other retail stores throughout New York and the United States.

13. Defendants manufactured, advertised, marketed, and sold almond milk labeled
products to tens of thousands of consumers nationwide, including New York.

14.  The Court has jurisdiction over Defendants because their almond milk labeled
products are advertised, marketed, distributed, and sold throughout New York; Defendants

engaged in the wrongdoing alleged in this Complaint throughout the United States, including in
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New York; Defendants are authorized to do business in New York; and Defendants have
sufficient minimum contacts with New York and/or otherwise has intentionally availed
themselves of the markets in New York, rendering the exercise of jurisdiction by the Court
permissible under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. Moreover, Defendants
are engaged in substantial and not isolated activity within this state.

15.  The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1332, because
this is a class action, as defined by 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(1)(B), in which a member of the putative
class is a citizen of a different state than Defendants, and the amount in controversy exceeds the
sum or value of $5,000,000, excluding interest and costs. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

16. Venue is proper in this district because a substantial part of the events giving rise
to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this district, and Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction
in this district.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

17.  Almond milk is a drink made from ground almonds, frequently used as a
substitute for dairy milk, and has been known to be prepared and consumed as far back as the 5th

century. See http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Almond_milk; see also http://silk.com/products/learn-

more/about-almondmilk.

18.  The basic method of modern domestic almond milk production is to grind soaked
almonds in a blender with water and honey (or any other sweetener), then strain out the almond
pulp (flesh) with a strainer, cheesecloth, or nut milk bag. Id.

19. Upon an extensive review of the recipes for almond milk on the internet, the vast
majority of the recipes call for one part almond and three or four parts water, amounting to 25-

33% of almonds.
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20.  “In the United States, almond milk remained a fairly niche health food item until
the early 2000s, when its popularity began to increase. In 2011 alone, almond milk sales
increased by 79%....In 2013, it surpassed soy milk as the most popular plant-based milk in the
U.S.” Id.

21.  The almond milk industry is currently generating over $700 million in sales of
almond milk with Defendants Blue Diamond and WhiteWave generating the vast majority of the
sales. See “America’s Almond Milk Boom Tops $700 Million in Sales”, Venassa Wong, August

8, 2014, Bloomberg.com, at http://www.bloomberg.com/bw/articles/2014-08-08/the-almond-

milk-boom-silks-huge-sales-lead-the-way-trounce-soy.

22. Defendants are selling products that are branded as almond milk, and leading
people to believe that the products are made primarily from almonds when the products only
contain 2% of almonds.

23.  Defendant Blue Diamond sells several varieties of its “almond milk” labeled

products, as displayed on its website at https://www.almondbreeze.com/?navid=328:

Almond Breeze Refrigerated Almond Breeze Shelf
) = - Stable

A must-have for every pantry - so you'll
never run out of Almond Breeze!

Chilled and ready to pourin a glass, over
cereal, or into your favorite recipe.

Available in the following:

Cr?mnal Available in the following:
» Original Unsweetened » Original

» Original Reduced Sugar » Original Unsweetened

» Chocolate

Vanilla
» Vanilla Unsweetened
» Chocolate
» Chocolate Unsweetened

» Vanilla Reduced Sugar

Almondmilk Coconutmilk
Blend

A blend of real almonds and coconuts,

available in both refrigerated and shelf stable.

Available in the following:
+ Original

Hint of Honey

Rich and creamy with a hint of real honey.
Available in baoth refrigerated and shelf stable.

Available in the following:
» Original

» Vanilla
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24, Defendant Blue Diamond describes its almond milk products as being

“ALMONDMILK, and that it is “Made from REAL almonds.”

UNSWEETEN 1 0% Vore

AL“nan

DD Almort N Tha

i jur.
~ L {? Cﬂ’ i [ k

,1' ml ““I

The Preferred
Taste Alternative

Almond Breeze® .
Almondmilk is A ..AII
- All Narural with MM
g.-::: rr:::;? - Vitamins & Minerals
NON-DAIRY : e ,“/ Made from REAL Almonds
./ Anxeellent Source of
donges 7 Viamins Dk
rich an R Cod

creamy with _ ot

a pleasant

aftertaste.

Amarican

a8
Association
CERTIFIED
dgain Criniia For
Faart -ttty Food

VAN ILLA Ti‘-t+ Glaranies

almond




Case 1:15-cv-04087-VM Document 1 Filed 05/28/15 Page 7 of 26

25.  Blue Diamond also displays a picture of a handful of almonds on side of the
cartons of its almond milk labeled products further leading consumers to believe that its almond

milk labeled products are primarily made from almonds.
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26. Blue Diamond also states on its website that its almond milk labeled products are

“made from real California almonds.”

Original

Made from real California almonds, Almond Breeze

Original is a deliciously creamy alternative to dairy and
soymilk. Almond Breeze Original is lactose free, soy free,
calcium enriched, and contains only 60 calories per
glass—that's half the calonies of 2% millk *

Also available in an 960z jug.

*1 cup/ 8 fl. oz. USDA reduced fat milk, 2% milkfat, with added
vitamin A vs. 1 cup/8 fl. 0z. Almond Breeze Original Flavor.

» Nutritionals and Ingredients | » Where to Buy m

See http://www.almondbreeze.com (emphasis added).

27. Blue Diamond also states on its packaging that its almond milk products are a
“Heart Healthy Food,” because of its almonds, and states the following health claims on its
website, further leading consumers to believe that its almond milk is primarily made from

almonds:

The Amazing Almond

There may be no such thing as a perfect food, but almonds come in high on the super-food
list. A top plant source for protein and vitamin E, each little almond also comes packed with
fiber, calcium, iron, and other important nutrients. Your body needs fat to function and the
monounsaturated fat found in almonds is the very best kind for your health. |n fact,
research studies suggest that almonds may help lower blood cholesterol, an important step
in maintaining heart health. So adding almonds to your diet every day just might help keep
the doctor away.

We created Almond Breeze® for people with lactose intolerance and have discovered that
it's also a great milk alternative for people with other conditions, including diabetes, heart
disease, celiac disease and obesity. People without any health conditions drink it, too,

because they love the taste and the nutritional benefits almonds provide.

The reasons many add Almond Breeze to their daily diets lie in what you will and won’t find
in a carton of Almond Breeze.
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What You Won't Find in Almond Breeze

IMany people have conditions that require them to avoid certain foods or ingredients, so it's important to know what Almond
Breeze does not contain:

« Lactose « Gluten
« Saturated Fat « Dairy
= Cholesteral « Casein

Why Those Things Matter

Research is showing that adding almonds to your daily diet can help people with certain conditions enjoy healthier lives.
Almonds and Almond Breeze also provide welcome alternatives to people who need to stay away from foods and food
ingredients because of certain health conditions.

Lactose Intolerance — Whether mild or severe, the symptoms of lactose intolerance are no fun. We developed Almond Breeze
to provide our lactose-intolerant customers with a creamy, tasty, calcium-enriched alternative to dairy milk and were delighted
to discover others started drinking it because they love the tastel

Type 2 Diabetes — Almonds and unsweetened Almond Breeze fall low on the glycemic index, a scale used to measure the
amount that carbohydrate-containing foods raise blood glucose levels within two hours. With less than three carbohydrate
grams per serving, Almond Breeze Unsweetened shaves off nine to 10 grams per serving when used in place of nonfat milk.

In addition to eating almonds and drinking Almond Breeze, adding almonds to foods that are higher on the glycemic index can
lessen the nise in blood glucose levels that food causes.

Heart Disease — In 2003, the FDA approved a qualified health claim that states "Scientific evidence suggests but does not
prove that eating 1.5 ounces per day of most nuts, such as almonds, as part of a diet low in saturated fat and cholesterol may
reduce the nisk of heart disease " A great deal of research has been done that shows almonds can help maintain and possibly
lower cholesterol levels, an important factor in reducing heart-disease nsk.

Weight Maintenance — Unsweetened Almond Breeze is a natural choice for the weight conscious. The combination of protein,
fiber and monounsaturated fat found in almonds also has been shown to help people feel full, which tends to lower food
consumption throughout the day.

Celiac Disease — Though many people with celiac disease can tolerate dairy milk, others may develop lactose intolerance over
time. Either way, it's important to know that Almond Breeze contains no gluten, lactose or casein (a protein found in milk).

Learn more about the health and nutrition benefits almonds provide in the Your Health section at www BlueDiamond com.

See http://almondbreeze.com/?navid=347.
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28. Likewise, WhiteWave sells a variety of “almond milk” labeled products,

described on its website at http://silk.com/products?cateqory=130:

Silk Jroducls Recipes  Healthy Living  Our Story — 8itk §coop

Home > All Products > Aimondmilk

Al BeEadl inta Almondmilk »
Al Frogaucts

Reset All Products

Almondmilk § About Aimondmilk »

. . Unsweetened Unsweetened
Vanilla Original Dark Chocolate Vanilla Original

Light Vanilla Light Original

10
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29.  During the Class Period, WhiteWave described its Silk Almond Milk as being
“almondmilk” and “PureAlmond.” WhiteWave also displayed a significant number of almonds
on its almond milk containers, leading consumers to believe that its almond milk products are

primarily made from almonds. WhiteWave further described its Silk Almond Milk as “100%

mouth-watering almond deliciousness” on its packaging for non-refrigerated almond milk.

all natural almondmilk*

nangmaprojectarg

Fpedled it mans S m iners

N QS

50% MORE CALCIUM
than dairy midk?'

YOU BET.

And that'd azzaié the zﬁef.f/mazgz

* 90 sensible calories a cup, versus 100
in 1% dairy milk

* 50% daily value of artioxidant vitamin E,
while dairy milk has nonet

* Absolutely no chalestercl or saturated
fat, urlike dairy milk

* Dairy-free, lactose-free and soy-free

# 100% mouth-wat ering almand
deliciousness

Plus, cur elmendmilk gmes wherever milk goes
in cereal, in recipes or straight up in a glass.

To unlock

11
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30. Upon and information and belief, within the past year, WhiteWave toned down
the misleading statements on the packaging of its almond milk labeled products by dropping the
PureAlmond name and no longer stating that the almond milk is “100% mouth-watering almond
deliciousness.” However, WhiteWave’s new packaging is still misleading and leads consumers
to believe that its almond milk is primarily made from almonds by stating that the product is
“almondmilk”, displaying a significant amount of almonds on the packaging, and by stating on
its packaging that, by drinking the almond milk, consumers will “Discover the tempting taste of

almonds.”

.u.__M AT

ORIGINAL

— W W -

12




Case 1:15-cv-04087-VM Document 1 Filed 05/28/15 Page 13 of 26

31. Furthermore, WhiteWave continues to lead consumers to believe that its almond

milk labeled products are primarily made from almonds by stating on its website:

It all begins with the
tasty little almond

‘We'd like to say we're responsible for the amazing taste
of Silk® Almondmilk. But most of the credit goes to,
well, the adimonds. One sip and you'll see what we mean.

A mouthwateringly simple story

Qur delicious almondmilk starts with Non-GMO yerified

maonds grown in California. Only nuts that match our

e S B e
stringent standards for size, density and co

ngradients like vitomins, minarals and a touch of natural

flaver. Simple, isn't it? And simply impossible to resist.

Go nuts, without the guilt
With a mildly nutty taste and a calorie count that isn't nutty
at all, cur almendmilk is perfectly poised to become your

riend. Plus it's o smart swap for milk in

5. Every delicious glass pocks 50% more

caleium than dairy milk," with absolutely no cholesterol and

no soturated fat. That's what we call the power of plant-

Why didn’t we think of almondmilk ages ago?
The truth is that taste pionsers recognized the versatility and

goodness of almondmilk as sarly os the fifth century, when

almondmilk was consumed all the way frem an

Eastern Asia. So you might think of Silk® as the newest branech

of the almondmilk family tree.

See http://silk.com/products/learn-more/about-almondmilk.

13
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32.  WhiteWave also makes the following health claims on its website to further lead

consumers to believe that its almond milk labeled products are primarily made from almonds:

Why eat (& drink)
more plants

Move over, meat. Or at least scoot over a little and
make some roorn—our veggie friends are eyeing
center plate, That's because more and more people are
recognizing the benefits of meals based on fruits,
vegetables, nuts and grains. Plus, consuming more
plants can be easier an the earth, too.

Eat to your health

Nothing says you have to go vegan, or even vegetarian. Burgar lovers and

bean lovers—we love ‘em alll But the benefits of o plant-bosed diet are well

i)

documented. And the good news Is that improving your diet can be as easy

os slipping in an extra serving or two of fruit, veggies, nuts or soy every day.

A plant-based diet rich in fruits, vegetables, nuts, whole grains and meaf
substitutes (like soy) may reduce mortality from heart disease’ and lower the incidence of high cholesterol* and diabetes”

Silk® con be a great place to begin. Try delicious soymilk, almendmilk or cocenutmilk instead of your usual dairy milk in cereal, or

pack a tempting Fruity & Creamy dairy-free yogurt alternative for lunch. It could be the start of a deliciously smart new habit.

See http://silk.com/healthy-living/plant-based-diet.

33. Unbeknownst to consumers, Defendants” “almond milk” labeled products are not
primarily made from almonds.
34. Instead, the so called “almond milk” is being made from various types of

thickening agents, such as locust bean gum, gellan gum, xanthan gum, and carrageenan, which

14
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are less costly ingredients, and Defendants’ almond milk labeled products only contain 2% of
almonds.

35. In addition, some of these ingredients have been linked to cancer and digestive
problems, and consumers are unknowingly ingesting massive quantities of these ingredients.
“Harmful or Harmless: Guar Gum, Locust Bean Gum, and More,” Chris Keeser, December 13,
2013, ChrisKesser.com. Indeed, WhiteWave has recently announced that it was removing
carrageenan from its products. See “Controversial Ingredient To Be Removed From Silk
Beverages”, August 19, 2014, Huffingtonpost.com.

36.  The discovery that Defendants’ “almond milk” actually contains just 2% of
almonds first came to light on April 20, 2015, when Ryan Gormon, a reporter from
BusinessiInsider.com, issued the following article titled “Here’s what happened when | started
asking the almond industry about the ingredients in almond milk”:

A simple question sent me on a bizarre journey.

I knew that a standard serving of almond milk contains a fraction of the
nutritional value found in a serving of almonds.

So | wanted to find out just how many almonds are actually in a carton of almond
milk.

Two major almond companies, Blue Diamond and Califia, declined to reveal the
exact amount of almonds in their milk (despite repeated assurance that | was not
writing about the California drought).

A series of phone calls and emails between Blue Diamond and a PR firm
representing Califia ended when Blue Diamond referred me to a trade group
called the Almond Board of California and Califia declined to answer my
question due to the proprietary nature of their almond milk formula.

I then spoke with Almond Board of California spokeswoman Carissa Sauer, who
couldn't (or wouldn't) tell me how many almonds are used to make commercial
almond milk.

"1 will talk to the group,” she said, assuring she would call me back.

15
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She never called back.

About 20 minutes later, I got an email from the Almond Board about a late-
afternoon press conference scheduled "to add sorely-needed facts and context to
the recent discussion around California’s drought.”

Richard Waycott, who heads up the Almond Board, spoke at length about various
things related to the drought and how almonds have or have not affected the
state's water supply. But he did not mention almond milk.

I asked point-blank: "How many almonds are in the average half-gallon container
of almond milk?"

Waycott gave a rambling answer about different producers and varying formulas
before referring me back to the almond companies.

I pressed him: "But [Blue Diamond] referred me to you ... [because] the formulas
are fairly standardized across the board."

Waycott said, "That's interesting, because we really don't have that knowledge."
No one knew exactly what is in a carton of almond milk.

Sauer emailed me back hours later to suggest | check product labels in the UK.
She said nutrition labels there tend to be more detailed and "the ingredient

combinations are pretty similar."”

One brand of British almond milk, I finally found out, contains just 2% almonds
per carton. The remainder is water, vitamins, and thickening agents.

37. Upon further investigation, Plaintiff’s counsel discovered that the almond milk

labeled product sold in the United Kingdom, that actually discloses on the packaging that the

beverage contains just 2% of almonds, is called Alpro, which is owned by Defendant

WhiteWave.

38.  Alpro’s website also discloses that its almond milk labeled product contains only

2% of almonds.

39. Plaintiff’s counsel also discovered that Blue Diamond discloses on the packaging

of Almond Breeze almond milk labeled products sold in the United Kingdom that there are only

16
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2% of almonds in the beverage, and also discloses the same on a website for United Kingdom
purchasers and consumers of Almond Breeze branded products. See

http://www.bluediamondalmonds.co.uk/almond-breeze/dairy-free-milk-alternative/unsweetened.

40.  So Defendants disclose to consumers in the United Kingdom that its almond milk
labeled products contain 2% of almonds but does not disclose that to consumers in the United
States.

41. Upon information and belief, Defendant WhiteWave uses the same deceptive
practices in selling soy milk, coconut milk, and cashew milk branded products in that said
products contain a tiny fraction of the plant-based ingredient being advertised that the drink is
made from, and is really made from less costly thickening agents.

42. Defendants are using their websites to lead distributors, grocery stores,
restaurants, consumers and other buyers and resellers of almond milk in the United States to
believe that their almond milk branded products are primarily made from almonds. Said
information from Defendants’ websites has created a false perception amongst the public that
Defendants’ almond milk labeled products are premium products that are healthy for you
because they are primarily made from almonds.

43. Plaintiff Tracy Albert purchased the Silk branded almond milk for consumption
under the impression that the almond milk labeled product was primarily made from almonds.
Her decision to purchase said almond milk labeled product was based on the statements and
claims on the packaging of the said product and information in the marketplace that almond milk
was healthy and a premium product because it was primarily made from almonds.

44, Plaintiff Dimitrios Malaxianis regularly purchased the Almond Breeze branded

almond milk for consumption under the impression that the almond milk labeled product was

17
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primarily made from almonds. His decision to purchase said almond milk labeled product was
based on the statements and claims on the packaging of said product and information in the
marketplace that almond milk was healthy and a premium product because it was primarily made
from almonds.

45.  As a result of the deceptive acts and practices described herein, Plaintiffs have
been damaged in that they did not receive the product they were led to believe that they were
paying for.

46. If Plaintiffs knew that Defendants’ almond milk labeled products contained only
2% of almonds, they would have not purchased said products.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

47. Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a) and

23(b)(2) and (b)(3) on behalf of the following class:
All persons or entities in the United States who purchased Defendants almond
milk labeled products described herein for consumption, during the period
between May 26, 2009 and the date of the final disposition of this action,
and/or such class or subclass as the Court may deem appropriate (the “Class™).

48. Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend the definition of the Class if discovery and
further investigation reveals that the Class should be expanded or otherwise modified.

49, Plaintiffs reserve the right to establish sub-classes as appropriate.

50.  This action is brought and may properly be maintained as a class action under the
provisions of Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a)(1)-(4) and 23(b)(2) and (b)(3), and satisfies
the requirements thereof.

51.  There is a well-defined community of interest among members of the Class, and

the disposition of the claims of these members of the Class in a single action will provide

substantial benefits to all parties and to the Court.

18
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52.  The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members of the
Class is impracticable. At this time, Plaintiffs believe that the Class includes tens of thousands of
members. Therefore, the Class is sufficiently numerous that joinder of all members of the Class
in a single action is impracticable under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 23(a)(l), and the
resolution of their claims through the procedure of a class action will be of benefit to the parties
and the Court.

53. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class whom they
seek to represent because Plaintiffs and each member of the Class has been subjected to the same
deceptive and improper practices by Defendants and have been damaged in the same manner.

54, Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the
members of the Class as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 23(a)(4). Plaintiffs
have no interests that are adverse to those of the members of the Class that they seek to
represent. Plaintiffs are committed to the vigorous prosecution of this action and, to that end,
Plaintiffs have retained counsel who is competent and experienced in handling complex class
action litigation on behalf of consumers.

55. A class action is superior to all other available methods of the fair and efficient
adjudication of the claims asserted in this Complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
23(b)(3) because:

a) The expense and burden of individual litigation would not be economically
feasible for members of the Class to seek to redress their claims other than

through the procedure of a class action.

19
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56.

b)

c)

If separate actions were brought by individual members of the Class, the resulting
multiplicity of lawsuits would cause members to seek to redress their claims other
than through the procedure of a class action; and

Absent a class action, Defendants likely would retain the benefits of its
wrongdoing, and there would be a failure of justice.

Common questions of law and fact exist as to the members of the Class, as

required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(a)(2), and predominate over any questions that

affect individual members of the Class within the meaning of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure

23(b)(3).

57.

b)

f)

9)

The common questions of fact include, but are not limited to, the following:
Whether a beverage can be branded or labeled as almond milk without disclosing
that the beverage contains 2% of almonds;

Whether the statements on Defendants’ packaging would lead a reasonable
consumers to believe that their products were primarily made from almonds;
What the costs of almonds are;

The cost of the thickening agents which Defendants” almond milk is being made
from;

The cost savings by Defendants for making their almond milk primarily from
thickening agents as opposed to almonds;

Whether Defendants engaged in unlawful, unfair, misleading, or deceptive
business acts or practices;

Whether Defendants engaged in fraud, false advertising, deceptive trade practices,

or other unlawful acts;

20
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h) Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched; and
1) Whether Plaintiffs and members of the Class are entitled to an award of
reasonable attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment interest, and costs of this suit.
58. In the alternative, this action is certifiable under the provisions of Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 23(b)(2) because Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally
applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding
declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole and necessitating that any such relief be
extended to members of the Class on a mandatory, class-wide basis.
59. Plaintiffs are not aware of any difficulty that will be encountered in the
management of this litigation that would preclude its maintenance as a class action.
COUNT I

Violations Of New York General Business Law § 349
And Similar Deceptive and Unfair Practices Laws Of Other States

60. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs and
further alleges as follows:

61.  This is a claim for violation of New York General Business Law 8§ 349, as well
those similar deceptive and unfair practices and/or consumer protection laws in other states.

62. Defendants violated these laws by engaging in the unfair and deceptive practices
as described herein which offend public policies and are immoral, unethical, unscrupulous and
substantially injurious to consumers. Specifically, the practices employed by Defendants,
whereby it advertised, promoted and marketed that its almond milk labeled products were
primarily made from almonds when they were made from thickening agents are unfair,
deceptive, and misleading.

63. Moreover, a reasonable consumer would be misled by Defendants’ conduct.
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64. Plaintiff and the Class members relied on Defendants’ actions described herein to
their detriment.

65. Plaintiffs and the Class are aggrieved and have suffered a loss as a result of
Defendants’ deceptive and unfair trade acts. Specifically, as a result of Defendants’ deceptive
and unfair trade acts and practices, Plaintiffs and the other Class members suffered monetary
losses associated with the purchase of Defendants’ almond milk labeled products by not
receiving the product that they were led to believe that they were paying for. The harm suffered
by Plaintiffs and the consumers in the Class was directly and proximately caused by the
deceptive, misleading and unfair practices of Defendants.

66. Plaintiff and the Class members relied on Defendants’ actions described herein to
their detriment.

67. Plaintiffs and the proposed class members seek damages for the harm suffered.

68. Plaintiffs also seek a declaratory judgment and court order enjoining the above-
described wrongful acts and practices of Defendants as well as restitution and disgorgement.

69. Plaintiff also seeks an order awarding attorneys’ fees pursuant to General
Business Law 349(h), and similar state statutes.

COUNT 11

Violations Of New York General Business Law § 350
And Similar False Advertising Laws Of Other States

70. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs and
further alleges as follows:
71. This is a claim for violation of New York General Business Law 8§ 350, as well

those similar false advertising laws in other states.
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72. Defendants violated these laws by advertising, promoting and marketing its
almond milk labeled products as primarily being made from almonds when they only contain 2%
of almonds and are made from various thickening agents.

73. Plaintiffs and the Class are aggrieved and have suffered a loss as a result of
Defendants’ false advertising. Specifically, as a result of Defendants’ false advertising, Plaintiffs
and the other Class members suffered monetary losses associated with the purchase of
Defendants’ almond milk products by not receiving the product that they were led to believe that
they were paying for. The harm suffered by Plaintiffs and the consumers in the Class was
directly and proximately caused by the deceptive, misleading and unfair practices of Defendants.

74. Moreover, a reasonable consumer would be misled by Defendants’ conduct.

75. Plaintiff and the Class members relied on Defendants’ actions described herein to
their detriment.

76. Plaintiffs and the proposed class members seek damages for the harm suffered.

77. Plaintiffs also seek a declaratory judgment and court order enjoining the above-
described wrongful acts and practices of Defendants as well as restitution and disgorgement.

78. Plaintiff also seeks an order awarding attorneys' fees pursuant to General Business
Law 350(e)(3), and similar state statutes.

COUNT 111
Fraud
(On Behalf of Plaintiffs Only and Not the Members of the Proposed Class)
79. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs and

further alleges as follows:
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80. Defendants, directly or through its agents and employees, made false
representations, concealments, and nondisclosures to Plaintiffs.

81. In making the representations of fact to Plaintiffs, Defendants have failed to fulfill
its duties to disclose the material facts set forth above.

82. Defendants, in making the misrepresentations and omissions, and in doing the
acts alleged above, knew or reasonably should have known that the representations were not true.

83. Defendants made and intended the false representations to induce the reliance of
Plaintiffs.

84. Plaintiffs relied upon these false representations and nondisclosures by
Defendants when purchasing Defendants’ almond milk labeled products, which reliance was
justified and reasonably foreseeable.

85.  As a result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered economic
losses and other general and specific damages as described herein.

86. Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive damages for Defendants’ false representations.

COUNT 1V
Unjust Enrichment

87. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations in the preceding paragraphs and
further alleges as follows:

88. By their wrongful acts and omissions, Defendants have been unjustly enriched at
the expense of Plaintiffs and members of the Class, who did not receive the product that they
were led to believe that they were purchasing, and thus Plaintiffs and members of the Class were

unjustly deprived of money provided to Defendants.
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89. It would be inequitable and unconscionable for Defendants to retain the profit,
benefit, and other compensation they obtained from their deceptive, misleading, unfair and
unlawful conduct alleged herein.

90.  Plaintiffs and members of the Class seek restitution from Defendants, and seek an
order of this Court disgorging all profits, benefits, and other compensation obtained by

Defendants from its wrongful conduct.

RELIEF REQUESTED

Accordingly, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the members of the Class, seek
judgment as follows:

1. Certifying the Class as requested herein, certifying Plaintiffs as the
representatives of the Class, and appointing Plaintiffs’ counsel as counsel for the Class;

2. Ordering that Defendants are financially responsible for notifying all members of
the Class of the alleged misrepresentations and omissions set forth herein;

3. Awarding Plaintiffs and the members of the Class compensatory damages in an
amount according to proof at trial;

4. Awarding restitution and disgorgement of Defendants’ revenues to Plaintiffs and
members of the Class;

5. Awarding declaratory and injunctive relief, including: enjoining Defendants from
continuing the unlawful practices as set forth herein, and directing Defendants to identify, with
Court supervision, victims of its conduct and pay them restitution and disgorgement of all
monies acquired by Defendants by means of any act or practice declared by this Court to be

wrongful or unlawful;
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6. Awarding to Plaintiffs and the Class punitive damages;
7. Ordering Defendants to engage in corrective advertising;
8. Awarding interest on the monies wrongfully obtained from the date of collection

through the date of entry of judgment in this action;

9. Awarding attorneys’ fees, expenses, and recoverable costs reasonably incurred in
connection with the commencement and prosecution of this action; and

10. Directing such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiffs and the Class

demand a trial by jury as to all matters so triable.

Dated: March 28, 2015

James C. Kelly

The Law Office of James C. Kelly
244 5™ Avenue, Suite K-278

New York, New York 10001

Tel: 212-920-5042

Fax: 888-224-2078

Email: jkelly@jckellylaw.com

Attorney for Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class
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